2000

# J.R. Walker v. Tracy Loan & Trust Company, a corporation as receiver for Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company, a corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS.

Walker Brothers Dry Goods, a Utah corporation, operated a large retail department store in Salt Lake City for nearly two generations. It was one of the oldest and leading mercantile establishments of the western section of the United States, and had been owned by the Walker family until November, 1928 (Abstract 71; Renshaw Transcript 53) when E. F. Dreyfous acquired stock control. The plaintiff, J. R. Walker, was elected Presi-

dent and director in 1903 (Abs. 25; Trans. 30) and occupied those positions even after the control of the corporation passed to Dreyfous (Abs. 35; Trans. 38). From 1903 to November, 1928 he was the active head of the business, but after that date, Dreyfous completely ordered its destinies (Abs. 35; Trans. 39) and the plaintiff Walker, was "only a figure head."

Following the entry of Dreyfous into the corporation, the store building of the company in Salt Lake City was remodeled at an expenditure of \$320,000.00 (Abs. 35; Trans. 39). Financial difficulties followed which resulted in the appointment of Tracy Loan & Trust Company, a corporation, as equity receiver for the company and its properties by the District Court of the Third Judicial District in and for Salt Lake County on June 25, 1930. The receiver qualified and immediately entered into possession of the assets and business of the company and for a temporary period continued the operation of the department store business.

At least twenty-five years prior to the receivership, the company established a practice of encouraging its employees to "deposit" their surplus funds or savings with the company (Abs. 55; Trans. Renshaw 41). These funds were repayable on demand (Abs. 33; Trans. 36) and the company paid 6% interest per annum (compounded semi-annually) (Abs. 44; Trans. 30). The "deposits" were evidenced by a small book which simply bore the imprint "Walker Brothers Dry Goods Co." (Renshaw Exhibits A and B). No rules or regulations

covering the so-called deposits were printed in the book nor is there any evidence that any regulations ever existed, except a general understanding of the agreement of the company. In 1929 these "deposits" amounted in total to about \$41,000.00 (Abs. 56; Renshaw Trans. 41). In 1924 they amounted to \$60,514.55 (Abs. 30; Trans. 35). For years the company paid or credited the earned interest on the respective accounts of the employees (Abs. 69; Renshaw Trans. 53). The funds were "withdrawable" on demand of an employee (Abs. 44; Renshaw Trans. 30). (Abs. 33; Trans. 36).

After Dreyfous acquired control of the business these so-called "deposits" were reduced by "repayment" to the "depositors". When the receiver was appointed the total of such "deposits" amounted only to \$11,778.78, exclusive of the sum of \$2909.85, which latter amount is involved in this action (Abs. 68 and 69; Renshaw Trans. 52) as hereinafter set forth. It also appears that the company employees from time to time received verbal assurances from the control accountant of the company that their funds on deposit were "absolutely safe and if anything ever happened to the store, they would be paid in preference to any one" (Abs. 44; Renshaw Trans. 30; Abs. 73; Renshaw Trans. 56). The accountant claims to have given these assurances to the employees at the instance and under the orders of the plaintiff, Walker, when he was manager of the business and that Dreyfous, after he became manager, also directed that she inform the employees to the same effect.

(Abs. 50; Renshaw Trans. 34). However, there was no written agreement entered into by the company erecting any specific trust fund protecting these "deposits" of the employees, nor attempting to make the "deposits" preferred claims in event of insolvency of the company.

The employees "deposited" their funds from time to time and in each book, which was held by the employee, the amount of the "deposit" was acknowledged. Interest credits were shown in like manner in the books (Renshaw case Exhibits A and B). The funds were received from the employees by the company at its regular cashier's window or were paid to the control accountant at her desk (Abs. 52 and 53; Renshaw Trans. 37, 38 and 39). The "deposits" were never ear-marked. (Abs. 54; Renshaw Trans. 40). The company maintained commercial bank accounts in several of the Salt Lake City banks (Abs. 53; Renshaw Trans. 38) and funds of the company received in the operation of its large business and the employee "deposits" were deposited in these banks. (Abs. 53; Renshaw Trans. 38). In making these bank deposits there was no distinction made as to funds received from the employees on "deposit" and the funds representing general income from business operations. (Abs. 53 and 54; Renshaw Trans. 38, 39 and 40). All money that was received at the store of the company was deposited without distinction as to its source. Employees "deposits" were intermingled with general income and deposited (Abs. 63 and 64; Renshaw Trans. 47, 48, 49) in the commercial banks.

The obligations of the company were paid out of the commercial bank deposits of the company. There was no special bank account representing only the funds of employees "deposited with the company, and when an employee desired to "withdraw" funds from the company, he was paid by check drawn on any one of the banking depositories of the company. No special bank account was used for this purpose (Abs. 64; Renshaw Trans. 48 and 49). There was a complete intermingling and confusion of the employees "deposits" with the general funds of the corporation. (Abs. 57; Renshaw Trans. 42) (Abs. 64; Renshaw Trans. 48).

Early in the Walker administration of the company the corporation books showed these employees "deposits" as a liability under the title of "On deposit" (Abs. 47; Renshaw Trans. 33). A certified accountant questioned the practice as partaking of the nature of a banking business, whereupon the ledger account caption was changed to "Cash due Employees". On the balance sheets of the company the amount due all of the employees was always shown as a liability, and it was never represented as a trust fund or a preferred claim (Abs. 27; Trans. 32; Abs. 62; Renshaw Trans. 47). During the Dreyfous administration the practice remained the same, except that there was an individualization of the accounts instead of carrying but one account in the general accounting set of the company. (Abstract 61; Renshaw Trans. 45).

The company, for years, placed its surplus funds

in time certificates of deposits issued and negotiated by the commercial banks with which it did business. (Abs. 31, Trans. 35; Abs. 48, Renshaw Trans. 34). When the credit balances in favor of the company at a particular bank accumulated beyond a certain point, a time certificate of deposit would be secured (Abs. 54; Renshaw Trans. 40; Abs. 58, Renshaw Trans. 43; Abs. 59, Renshaw Trans. 43) from the bank. These time deposit certificates were for six or twelve months (Abs. 58; Renshaw Trans. 43), and they represented excess emergency funds of the company (Abs. 51; Renshaw Trans. 36). They represented at one time a sum greatly in excess of the company's liability to its employees for their so-called "deposits" (Abs. 58; Renshaw Trans. 43). In 1924 at the time of the company audit, the employees "savings accounts" carried a liability of \$60,514.55 (Abs. 30; Trans. 34). The company had time deposits of \$42,476.00 (Abs. 31; Trans. 35) a cashier's check of \$10,000.00 and a special bank account of \$17,083.85. These represented a reserve "to take care of any emergency" (Abs. 33; Trans. 36).

In purchasing these time certificates of deposit the company did not ear-mark funds received from its employees as savings or "on deposit" and buy a special certificate of deposit with such funds (Abs. 54; Renshaw Trans. 40). Such funds went into the company's general bank accounts indiscriminately, along with other funds of the company (Abs. 54; Renshaw Trans. 40), and when the balance at any bank accumulated to a point



as to permit the purchase of a time certificate, the certificate was acquired. (Abs. 54; Renshaw Trans. 40). The certificates carried no indication on their face that they were for any particular purpose. At the time of the appointment of the receiver, no time certificates in favor of the company existed (Abs. 59; Renshaw Trans. 44). They had been previously cashed and the proceeds used by the corporation in its business.

Alice Frye, (also known as Mrs. Alice Young) had for years been employed as a domestic servant in the home of the plaintiff, Walker. She was never an employee of Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company. (Abs. 19, Trans. 25 and 26; Abs. 20, Trans. 26; Abs. 34, Trans. 37). The plaintiff with her consent, placed her savings on "deposit" with Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company in the same manner as if Alice Frye had been an employee of the company. (Abs. 19, Trans. 25; Abs. 34, Trans. 37 and 38). The account was built up on a similar plan as the accounts of the company employees. (Abs. 19, Trans. 25; Abs. 27, Trans. 32). In May 1930 (Abs. 20, Trans. 26; Abs. 34, Trans. 38) and while plaintiff was president and director of the company, he made settlement with Alice Frye and she assigned her claim against the company arising out of the "deposit" of her funds, to the plaintiff (Abs. 34; Trans. 38). The credit balance in favor of Alice Fry at this time approximated the sum of \$5,909.85.

The wife of plaintiff at this time was indebted to the company on an open account in the approximate

amount of \$3000.00. (Abs. 18, Trans. 24; Abs. 34, Trans. 38). When the plaintiff had acquired from Alice Frye her right and title to the "deposit" claim he went to the control accountant of the company (in May 1930) and ordered her to transfer a sufficient amount from the Alice Frye account to pay and settle the liability of his wife on her account due the company and to hold the balance to his credit with authority for his wife to purchase merchandise against it. (Abs. 18, Trans. 24; Abs. 23, Trans. 28 and 29; Abs. 24, Trans. 29; Abs. 34, Trans. 38). The control accountant transferred approximately \$3000.00 from the Frye account (then owned by plaintiff) to the credit of the account of Mrs. J. R. Walker, plaintiff's wife. This paid this account in full (Abs. 18, Trans. 24). Upon this transfer being effected there remained a balance of \$2,909.85 to the credit of the plaintiff as assignee of Alice Frye. Thereafter and prior to the appointment of the receiver for the company, the wife of plaintiff became indebted to the company in the sum of \$329.98 for merchandise purchased by her. After the appointment of the receiver, the wife of plaintiff became indebted to the receiver in the additional sum of \$2,006.03. However, it was stipulated by counsel and found by the trial court (Abs. 79; Trans. 11) that the defendant as receiver, had sold to a third person the accounts against plaintiff's wife and therefore the question of offsetting the total amount due from plaintiff's wife to the receivership estate against plaintiff's claim had been eliminated from the case (Abs. 79;

Trans. 11). No further consideration need be given to this question of offsets.

After the appointment of defendant as receiver of Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company, the plaintiff filed his proof of claim with the said receiver within the time ordered by the court having jurisdiction of the receivership proceedings. Plaintiff in his proof of claim alleged that his claim was preferred and entitled to full payment before the common creditors of the insolvent corporation were entitled to participate in a distribution of the receivership assets. The defendant receiver refused to allow the claim as a preferred claim but approved same as a common claim without preference. Thereupon the court in which the receivership proceedings were and are pending ordered plaintiff to institute and prosecute a plenary action against the defendant receiver to determine if a preference existed in favor of plaintiff which would entitle him to full payment of his claim before common creditors of the receivership estate would be entitled to participate. This present action is the plenary action ordered by the court.

In the receivership proceedings the court ordered the defendant receiver to set up a reserve of cash funds of \$11,268.33 to protect the creditors of the receivership estate who are employee "depositors" as herein designated and described, in the event it was finally determined they were entitled to payment of their claims in full. The court further directed the receiver to pay to these creditors claiming preference the same dividends

as were paid common creditors as and when such dividends were paid, without prejudice as to either the receiver or creditors claiming preference. The receiver has carried out the order of the court in all respects. The reserve fund has been created and the employee "depositors" have been paid dividends in the same proportion as paid common creditors. (Abs. 77; Trans. 9).

The trial court in this action found that the assets of Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company are insufficient to pay the general creditors more than approximately 55% of the amount of such claims allowed by the receiver. (Finding XIII, Abstract 80, Trans. 11).

## ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ARGUMENT.

### I.

**PLAINTIFF IS NOT ENTITLED TO A PREFERENCE OR PRIORITY IN THE PAYMENT OF HIS CLAIM BY THE DEFENDANT RECEIVER, BECAUSE (a) THE TRANSACTION BETWEEN PLAINTIFF AND WALKER BROTHERS DRY GOODS COMPANY INVOLVING THE ALICE FRYE ACCOUNT DID NOT CHANGE A DEBTOR AND CREDITOR RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PLAINTIFF AND THE COMPANY INTO THAT OF TRUSTEE AND CESTUI QUE TRUST; AND (b) THE SIMPLE CONTRACT DEBT DUE PLAINTIFF, AS ASSIGNEE OF ALICE FRYE WAS NOT CONVERTED INTO A TRUST FUND.**

Appellant's Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8 (a), 9, 10, (a and c), and 11 involve the foregoing propo-

sition. Therefore, as a matter of convenience they may be discussed together. Assignments 2, 3 and 9 are directed against Finding of Fact VI, which is as follows:

“That prior to the appointment of the defendant, as receiver of Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company, as aforesaid, the plaintiff delivered to and deposited with the said Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company the sum of \$2,909.85, upon an express trust, to-wit: that said sum be held and retained by the said Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company for the sole, specific and special purpose, and that only, of securing the payment of and paying for the future goods, wares and merchandise to be purchased by the wife of plaintiff from Walker Brothers Dry Goods store.”

Assignments 4 and 5 are directed against Finding of Fact VII, which is as follows:

“That the said deposit so made by the plaintiff to Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company under the express trust, as aforesaid, was accepted and held by Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company in trust as a special fund or deposit for the specific use and purpose for which it was entrusted to the said Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company, to-wit; for the security, satisfaction and payment of future advances and sales of goods, wares and merchandise by Walker Brothers Dry Goods store to the wife of plaintiff, and not otherwise.”

As to each of said Findings, the Appellant asserts that (a) the trial court erred in making the Finding as a matter of law; and (b) that the evidence in the case is

wholly insufficient to support both or either of said Findings.

Assignments 1, 10 (a and c), and 11 each raise the question as to whether or not a trust relationship existed between plaintiff and Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company and also as to whether or not there existed a trust fund or res.

1. ALICE FRYE WAS A SIMPLE CONTRACT CREDITOR OF WALKER BROTHERS DRY GOODS COMPANY. PLAINTIFF AS HER ASSIGNEE, SUCCEEDED TO HER RIGHTS AND ASSUMED HER LEGAL STATUS IN REGARD TO THE FUNDS LOANED BY HER TO THE COMPANY.

The plaintiff on cross-examination was asked:

“Q. Now, I will ask you to state whether or not this account of Mrs. Young’s or Miss Frye’s was transferred to you?” (Abs. 34; Trans. 37).

Plaintiff’s answer to this question was as follows:

“A. I had for years and years back, she was our old nurse girl, and I had the handling of this fund, had it long before I put it in the store. I put it in there, I was trustee, and in my last year I had Mrs. Chase transfer it to my account. I didn’t want to involve her in any receivership proceedings. I was taking care of this fund for her. I told Mrs. Chase to transfer it to my account and apply enough to clean up Mrs. Walker’s account and I would leave the balance there for her account. She was in the habit of running an ac-

count of two or three thousand dollars a year. I could have drawn it out if I had wanted to."

In this testimony is found the origin of the claim which is the basis of this action. The testimony of control accountant, Chase, (Abs. 19 and 20; Trans. 25 and 26) throws further light on Alice Frye's relation to the plaintiff and to the company.

"Q. Do you know, Mrs. Chase, when this Alice Frye account was opened?

A. It must have been before I had the books, I never received any deposits.

Q. Alice Frye and Alice Young are the same person?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Do you know who that lady was?

A. I never seen (sic) her.

Q. Do you know who she was?

A. I knew there was such a person.

Q. She was employed in the home of Mr. Walker?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. As a domestic servant?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you ever accept any money direct from Mrs. Frye?

A. No.

Q. How was money brought there to the credit of her account?

A. Mr. Walker always brought it to the store. I don't think I ever did receive any money on it myself. *I used to figure the interest.*

Q. You never saw Miss Frye or Mrs. Young?

A. I never saw her."

It is obvious from the foregoing evidence that Alice Frye was never an employee of the company. She was a domestic servant in Walker's home. The funds delivered to the company by Walker belonged to Miss Frye and credit was given by the company to her. The account stood in the name of Alice Frye. She was recognized by the company as the principal and with regard to the handling of her money Walker was her agent in dealing with the company. Until Alice Frye assigned her claim to Walker, the company knew only her as the owner of the claim. The contract was between the company and Miss Frye. No matter what Walker may designate the legal status he individually occupied towards Miss Frye in regard to her funds, as between the company and Miss Frye the relation was simply of that of debtor and creditor. She, acting through her agent, Walker, *loaned* the money to the corporation. On the company there rested the contract duty of paying interest on the borrowed funds, and repayment of principal to her on her demand. There was no duty to Walker.

"It is also elementary law that the principal is entitled to the benefit of a contract made in his name by an authorized agent."

Hartford Distillery Co. v. N. Y. N. H. R.  
Co., 115 Atl. (Conn.) 488;  
Savage vs. Rix, 9 New Hampshire 263;  
Stone vs. Wood, 7 Cow. (N. Y.) 453;



Merchants Bank vs. Hayes, 7 Hun. (N. Y.)  
530.

The fundamentals of the transactions between Miss Frye and the company clearly demonstrate that she loaned her funds to the company and the company *borrowed* the same from her. The company agreed to pay her interest and did in truth pay interest (Abs. 20; Trans. 26) for the use of her funds. There can be no trust relationship deduced from this agreement to pay interest. In truth the agreement to pay interest connotes a debt—not a trust fund. *“If a man pays interest for money he must be entitled to the use of it. When a man locks up money which is intrusted to him in a box, he does not pay interest on it.”* *In re Broad* 13 Queens Bench Division 740. Miss Frye occupied no different position towards the company than that of the numerous bank creditors, which loaned their funds to the company in consideration of the payment of interest. She was a stranger to the company and the company borrowed *call* money from her. *“Interest is the compensation paid for the use of money. It is allowed on the ground of some contract, express or implied, to pay it, or as damages for the breach of some contract, or the violation of some duty.”* *Arizona Eastern R. Co. v. Head*, 26 Arizona 259; 224 Pac. 1057. *“Interest is the compensation allowed by law, or fixed by the parties, for the use or forbearance of money, or as damages for its detention.”* 15 R. C. L. Sec. 1, page 3.

The agreement of the company to pay Miss Frye

interest on her advances to the company, plainly stamps the transaction as one between debtor and creditor. Upon receipt of her funds the company could do what it desired with them. It was not to invest them in a trust fund for her benefit and then pay her interest on them. It was intended that it use them in the company business and pay her interest for such use of her money. Therefore, up to the point when Walker paid Miss Frye the amount of her claim and in return secured her assignment thereof, the corporation was but a simple contract debtor of Miss Frye. She was a simple contract creditor. Walker succeeded to her legal rights and assumed her legal position.

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