2000

# J.R. Walker v. Tracy Loan & Trust Company, a corporation as receiver for Walker Brothers Dry Good Company, a corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

#### ARGUMENT

WHEN THE PLAINTIFF, RESPONDENT HEREIN, THEREFORE, DEPOSITED WITH WALKER BROTHERS DRY GOODS COMPANY SOME FIVE OR SIX THOUSAND DOLLARS, WITH THE REQUEST THAT IT BE USED FIRST TO PAY HIS WIFE'S ACCOUNT TO DATE AND THEREAFTER THE BALANCE TO BE PAID UPON HIS WIFE'S FUTURE PURCHASES, WAS A TRUST CREATED?

\$2,909.85 is admitted to be the balance left with Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company to pay for respondent's wife's future purchases. Mr.

Abs. Trans.

Walker states that Mrs. Chase, cashier, book-keeper and control accountant, told him that she would do that, and that she did do it, and that he left the sum of \$2,909.85 with Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company in reliance upon its agreement to use the same to pay his wife's future purchases; that that was the way he wanted to have it applied. The allegations of the complaint conform to the evidence in alleging that the sum of \$2,909.85 was to be retained and held for the sole and specific and special purpose, and that only, of securing the payment and of paying for the future goods, wares and merchandise to be purchased by the wife of plaintiff; that said deposit was accepted and held by the store as a special fund or deposit for the specific use and purpose for which it was delivered, received, accepted and held.

It is admitted that upon the appointment of the receiver there came into his hands sums of money in excess of the amount of plaintiff's claim. In leaving the sum of \$2,909.85 with Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company to pay for future purchases of respondent's wife, the funds of that company were clearly augmented to the amount

of said deposit. This deposit took place in May of 1930, and the receiver was appointed in the following June. It, therefore, necessarily follows that if a trust was created by said deposit the general creditors of Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company are not entitled to participate in the \$2,909.85 deposited by respondent which in turn augmented the assets of Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company, and particularly the cash on hand. The legal presumption is that the money which came into the hands of the receiver contains the trust funds held by the insolvent, that is to say, the insolvent spent its own funds first. Whether or not the presumption is rebuttable, the respondent sustained the burden of proof required of him when he showed that the money actually came into the hands of Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company, and that there was cash on hand the day the receiver took charge in an amount equal to or greater than the balance of the trust funds in question. Inasmuch as the appellant did not offer any evidence to rebut this presumption, it would make no difference in the case at bar whether we consider the presumption as rebuttable or not. The respondent is entitled



to full payment as a preferred creditor, in accordance with the decisions hereinafter set forth.

## A TRUST WAS CREATED

Even the cases cited and relied upon by appellant recognize the principle upon which respondent's claim is predicated. In the case of Northern Sugar Corporation vs. Thompson, 13 Fed. (2d) 829, where a general deposit of funds had been made to meet the beet pay roll, the Court says, at 831:

“Whether a deposit in a bank is general or special depends upon the contract resulting from the mutual understanding and intention of the parties at the time such deposit is made.”

And again:

“Where the depositor, at the time a deposit is made, enters into an understanding and agreement with the bank that the money deposited is for a specific purpose, and for that alone, as funds deposited to pay a particular note, draft or check, such deposit partakes of the nature

of a special deposit, the relation between the depositor and the bank is that of principal and agent, and the title to the deposit remains in the depositor.”

This principle applied to the facts in the case at bar clearly illustrates the right of the respondent and the right of Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company to give and accept the deposit made by Mr. Walker for a special purpose, to-wit: the payment of his wife's purchases. The distinction between the facts of this case and the case at bar is clearly shown by the following quotation from the opinion of the court, quoting a portion of the testimony given upon the trial:

“I expected the ‘beet pay roll’ checks, when presented, would be paid promptly, the same as any check that I might issue against a bank in which I had an account. The balance in the ‘beet pay roll’ account shifted from day to day.”

It certainly was proper for this court to hold, in the light of that evidence, that the deposit of the Sugar Company was general. There is, however, no analogy between the facts of that case and

the transaction of the respondent with Walker Brothers Dry Goods Company.

The next case cited of *Noyes vs. First Nat. Bank*, 167 N. Y. S. 288, involves another general deposit in a bank upon which checks were drawn to pay interest on interest coupons. The court clearly holds that these funds were paid out of the bank on the check of the company, the same as any other general deposit.

The case of *Holland Trust Company v. Sutherland*, 69 N. E. 647, is specifically referred to in this opinion. In that case the Court of Appeals of New York says:

“The effect of that transaction was to make the plaintiff trust company a trustee for the coupon holders whose claims were to be paid out of the fund so deposited. Before the coupons were due, a creditor of the Delaware Water Company levied an attachment on said moneys as the property of a nonresident defendant. The legal effect of that special deposit not only created the plaintiff trust company a trustee for the coupon holders, but it

changed the title to said moneys from the water company to the trust company, in whose possession it constituted a trust fund for the benefit of coupon holders as cestuis que trustent. The trust company adopts this view of the law, and in its complaint expressed its desire to pay these coupon holders the moneys in question, and asks a court of equity for instruction in the premises, based on special reasons.”

In the case of *Fralick v. Coeur D’Alene Bank & Trust Company*, 210 Pac. 586, the Idaho court recognizes the right of a bank to make special deposits. This court clearly holds that the question turns on whether the deposit is a general or special deposit, and that if the latter, it is a preferred claim. The evidence in this case as detailed in the opinion of the court shows a case of a general deposit, but the court says:

“If a bank accepts a deposit from A, under an agreement to pay it to B, the contract is one for the benefit of B. It has been held that such a contract creates

a trust relationship in favor of B., and that in case of insolvency of the bank the trust relationship will be recognized, and B. is entitled to recover the trust fund, if it can be traced into the assets of the bank. *Woodhouse v. Crandall*, 197 Ill. 104, 64 N. E. 292, 58 L. R. A. 385. We think this rule is correct, if B. did not consent that the deposit should be considered as one for his credit. The evidence in this case, as we construe it, fails to show a contract which gave the holders of the coupons any right of action against the bank.”

In *Tucker v. Linn et al.* (N. J.), 57 Atl. 1017, relied on by appellant, it is said:

“The charge is that particular money was paid over by the complainant to the defendant’s intestate to be invested in securities, and these securities were to be held by the defendant’s intestate. No equitable title to the money passes in such a case. No equitable title to the securities in any way exists in the holder. If this bill had been proved to be true, then John Linn received money which he had no

right to appropriate to his own use. He did not, by receiving the money, become a debtor to the complainant. He was charged with the duty of expending these moneys for securities or investing them in securities, and when he did so the equitable title to those securities would be in the complainant, and he would be the mere trustee, not having any beneficial ownership.”

The case of Fidelity Savings & Loan Association v. Rodgers et al. (Cal.), 182 Pac. 426, can have no bearing on the present controversy. The Court in this case says:

“The expressions used, however, show that it was regarded and treated by her as an ‘account’ in her favor against the plaintiff, to be paid out by it on her order, and as both parties have discussed the case solely upon the theory that it was a general deposit for exchange or credit, we will assume that such was its character.”

The case of Bledsoe v. Hammons, 36 Ariz. 489, 287 Pac. 297, relied on by appellant on page

Abs. Trans.

31 of its brief, involves a bank account of a fraternal order. The name in which this bank account stood was changed from the individual name of the treasurer to the name of the organization for which he held it. This change was made just prior to the appointment of a receiver. It involves nothing more than a change in the name under which the deposit was held. The deposit was a general deposit, subject to checking account both before and after this change. It is in no wise enlightening, therefore, so far as the present controversy is concerned.

We turn now to the authorities relied on by respondent.

Michie on Banks and Banking, Vol.  
III, Ch. 6, Sec. 186, p. 259.

“It is a well established rule that moneys received by a bank to be applied to a particular purpose or to be remitted to some creditor of the person paying such sums, are regarded as trust funds, and a claim therefore is ordinarily entitled to preference over the claims of general creditors in the distribution of the

assets of the insolvent bank. Thus money intrusted to a bank for investment is a trust fund. And, where money is deposited with a bank, to be applied in the payment of a note or other obligation on which the depositor is liable, the bank holds it as a trust fund and not as the assets of the bank and it may be followed and reclaimed from the assignee or receiver. The reason of the rule is that the relation between the depositor and the bank as to such deposits is that of principal and agent, or trustee and cestui que trust and not simply that of depositor and depositary."

3 R. C. L. 146.

"The law prescribes no particular formula for the contract involved in making a special deposit. Like all contracts, it grows out of the mutual intention and understanding of the parties. The purpose and terms of the deposit may be explicitly stated, or the intention of the parties may be inferred from their declarations,



considered in connection with their conduct and all of the circumstances.”

Mothersead v. Harrington, Okla. 250  
Pac. 483.

In this action the plaintiff paid into the defendant bank the sum of \$709.65 which was held by said bank to be paid as the balance due on a contract for the sale of an oil and gas lease, upon the seller, a minor, becoming of age. In the meantime the Bank passed into the hands of a receiver. This case not only holds that this sum was held in trust, being a special rather than a general deposit, entitling plaintiff to a preference, but furthermore holds that the commingling of this money with other moneys of the Bank did not in any wise prevent the plaintiff from reclaiming it as a preferred claim. The court quotes with approval from the case of *Secrest v. Ladd*, 112 Kan. 23, 209 Pac. 824, as follows:

“Where a special deposit is placed in a bank to be used only in payment of certain shares of capital stock of the bank when the same should be duly authorized

and issued, which stock was not authorized nor issued, but the bank misappropriated the money so deposited and used the same in its general business, thereby augmenting its assets, and where shortly afterwards the bank became insolvent and its assets passed into the hands of a receiver, the special deposit constitutes a trust fund which the beneficial owner was entitled to follow and reclaim from the augmented assets in the hands of the receiver in preference to the claims of general creditors.”

It likewise quotes from 31 A. L. R. at page 472 the following general rule:

“It may be stated as a general rule that where a deposit is made in a bank with the distinct understanding that it is to be held by the bank for the purpose of furthering a transaction between the depositor and a third person, or where it is made under such circumstances as give rise to a necessary implication that it is made for such a purpose, the deposit becomes impressed with a trust which en-

titles the depositor to a preference over the general creditors of the bank where it becomes insolvent while holding the deposit.”

This case of *Secrest v. Ladd*, 112 Kan. 23, 209 Pac. 824, cited with approval in the *Mother-sead* case, deserves more than passing comment. The facts are so nearly analogous to those in the case at bar that there is little, if anything, to distinguish the two cases. The Kansas case deals with a deposit made by Secrest sixty days before the insolvency of the bank for the purpose of paying for thirty-one shares of the bank's own stock when the same was authorized and issued to Secrest. The deposit was made and accepted for this special purpose. The increase of stock had not been authorized nor had any stock been issued to Secrest when the bank became insolvent. There were some two hundred thousand dollars remaining upon the closing of the bank and about ninety thousand dollars in claimed preferences. In the case at bar we have a total of \$11,268.33 in preferred claims for which the Court has had that much cash in the hands of the receiver set aside with which to pay such of

the preferred claims as are finally adjudged preferences. It is further shown that general creditors will receive approximately 55% of their claims. The two cases thus far are entirely analogous. \$2,806.73 of the \$3,875.00 deposit in the Kansas case was made up by the transfer of certificates of deposit on other banks. \$1,068.47 was a check or receipt transferring to the bank a savings deposit of \$1,068.47 which Secrest had in that bank. The trial court allowed a preference so far as the \$2,806.73 was concerned, but denied a preference as to the \$1,068.47 which was merely transferred from the savings account to the bank to be held for this special purpose. Each party appealed, the receiver for the bank because of the preference allowed on the \$2,806.73, and Secrest because he had been denied a preference on the \$1,068.47. The Supreme Court reversed the lower court so far as the \$1,068.47 was concerned, and allowed Secrest a preference for the entire amount. Therefore, so far as the \$1,068.47 is concerned, the two cases are still analogous. The Kansas Court in its opinion says:

“Was the special deposit made by the plaintiff in the bank a trust fund, and, if it has the trust character, can it be fol-

lowed and payment required out of the assets of the bank in preference and before distribution to general creditors?"

This is the identical question presented in the case at bar. The Court goes on to say:

“There can be no doubt of the fiduciary relation between the plaintiff and the bank. The fund was placed in the bank to be applied to a specified purpose for the benefit of plaintiff.”

Herein lies the only difference between the Kansas case and the case at bar. In the case at bar the fund was placed in the hands of appellant to be applied to a specific purpose, to-wit: the benefit of a third party. This difference strengthens respondent's contention. It might, under some circumstances, be possible to say that a fund deposited for the benefit of a depositor himself did not constitute a trust, but it is difficult to conceive of the circumstances under which such a deposit made for the benefit of a third person could be held otherwise than in trust. This is the case at bar. The court says further:

“It was intrusted to the bank to be applied in payment of the shares of capital stock when the same was authorized and issued. The increase of stock was never authorized, and no shares were issued or delivered to plaintiff before the failure of the bank. It is agreed that the fund was to be for no other than the specified purpose. The beneficial ownership of the fund remained in the plaintiff, and the misapplication of it by the bank did not change its trust character.”

The second question as to whether or not the funds could be traced is likewise answered by this court in its opinion:

“Can it be identified or traced to the assets of the insolvent bank which came into the possession of the receiver? He holds it by no better title than did the trustee, and he took the assets of the insolvent bank subject to any trust impressed upon them. Instead of holding the fund for the specific purpose and application, the bank converted and mingled it with its general funds using it to honor

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